

Canada Energy Regulator Régie de l'énergie du Canada



# Regulatory Framework Plan 2024 to 2027





#### Permission to Reproduce

Materials may be reproduced for personal, educational and/or non-profit activities, in part or in whole and by any means, without charge or further permission from the Canada Energy Regulator, provided that due diligence is exercised in ensuring the accuracy of the information reproduced; that the Canada Energy Regulator is identified as the source institution; and that the reproduction is not represented as an official version of the information reproduced, nor as having been made in affiliation with, or with the endorsement of the Canada Energy Regulator.

For permission to reproduce the information in this publication for commercial redistribution, please e-mail: info@cer-rec.gc.ca.

#### Autorisation de reproduction

Le contenu de cette publication peut être reproduit à des fins personnelles, éducatives et/ou sans but lucratif, en tout ou en partie et par quelque moyen que ce soit, sans frais et sans autre permission de la Régie de l'énergie du Canada, pourvu qu'une diligence raisonnable soit exercée afin d'assurer l'exactitude de l'information reproduite, que la Régie de l'énergie du Canada soit mentionnée comme organisme source et que la reproduction ne soit présentée ni comme une version officielle ni comme une copie ayant été faite en collaboration avec la Régie de l'énergie du Canada ou avec son consentement.

Pour obtenir l'autorisation de reproduire l'information contenue dans cette publication à des fins commerciales, faire parvenir un courriel à : info@cer-rec.gc.ca.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada 2022 as represented by the Canada Energy Regulator

Regulatory Framework Plan: 2024 to 2027 Cat No. NE2-30E-PDF

ISSN 2563-8777

This report is published separately in both official languages. This publication is available upon request in multiple formats.

#### Copies are available on request from:

The Publications Office Canada Energy Regulator Suite 210, 517 Tenth Avenue SW Calgary, Alberta, T2R 0A8 E-Mail: publications@cer-rec.gc.ca Fax: 403-292-5503

Phone: 1-800-899-1265

For pick-up at the office: Library 2nd floor

Printed in Canada

© Sa Majesté la Reine du Chef du Canada 2022 représentée par le Régie de l'énergie du Canada

Plan relatif au cadre de réglementation 2024 à 2027 N° de cat. NE2-30E-PDF

ISSN 2563-8785

Ce rapport est publié séparément dans les deux langues officielles. On peut obtenir cette publication sur supports multiples, sur demande.

#### Demandes d'exemplaires:

Bureau des publications Régie de l'énergie du Canada 517, Dixième Avenue S.-O., bureau 210 Calgary (Alberta) T2R 0A8 Courrier électronique : publications@cer-rec.gc.ca Fax : 403-292-5503

Téléphone : 1-800-899-1265

Des exemplaires sont également disponibles à la bibliothèque Deuxième étage

Imprimé au Canada

# Table of Contents

Overview	1
Development of Regulations	2
CER-led development of regulations	2
CER participation in development of regulations led by Natural Resources Canada	3
Development of Guidance	4
Filing Manuals and Supplemental Filing Guidance	4
Regulatory Guidance	5
Other Regulatory Framework Improvements	6
Engagement and Project Timelines	6
Contact Us	8
Annex 1: Review of Onshore Pipeline Regulations	10
Annex 2: Review of Cost Recovery Regulations	12
Annex 3: Review of Rules of Practice and Procedure	14
Annex 4: Review of Export / Import Regulatory Framework	15
Annex 5: Review of filing guidance – Filing Manual Guide A, Section 2: Environmental and Soc Assessment, and Section 4: Lands Information	

Annex 6:	Review of regulatory guidance – Event Reporting Guidelines	19
Annex 7:	New regulatory guidance – Contractor Oversight by CER-Regulated Companies	20
Annex 8:	Financial Requirements Improvement Project	21
Annex 9:	Regulatory Asset Data Project	22
Annex 10:	Predictable and Efficient Processing and Assessment of Negligible-Risk and Low-Risk Projects	24



# Regulatory Framework Plan 2024 to 2027

### Overview

The Regulatory Framework Plan (the Plan) is a tool produced by the CER that supports planning and communication.

The Plan describes which regulations, guidance material and other regulatory documents we intend to amend or develop over a three-year period and sets out expected timelines for each. The Plan also describes other Regulatory Framework improvements the CER is undertaking, such as:

- development of technical standard documents led by the CER as complementary guidance (e.g., <u>Canadian Standard Association Express Document No. 13:21 Quality assurance requirements for</u> <u>pipe and components</u>);
- development of regulations led by other federal departments with our participation; and
- enterprise improvements such as changes to internal systems or processes in support of the Regulatory Framework (e.g., Regulatory Asset Data Project).

The Plan is updated every year through a review process that is informed by:

- strategic priorities that focus how we do our work and prioritize change;
- evaluation of performance data from across the CER's regulatory programs;
- input from stakeholders and Indigenous Peoples provided during the CER's engagement activities and participation in regulatory proceedings; and
- learnings from other jurisdictions and regulators within Canada and abroad.

Projects appearing in the Plan vary in scope and scale of effort but only those initiatives that are established with formal project plans and clear deliverables for the CER's Regulatory Framework are included in the Plan year to year.

All projects appearing in the Plan align with the strategic priorities identified in the CER's <u>Strategic Plan</u>. Our priorities are the shared lens that focus our work. We anticipate additional projects will be added in future years, as we advance our work to:

- prepare for the future and inform the energy transition;
- advance Reconciliation and implement the United Nations (UN) Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples;
- foster the trust and confidence of Canadians; and
- enhance Canada's global competitiveness through regulatory excellence.

The Plan will be updated at the start of each new fiscal year (April) and throughout the year, as material changes occur.

More information may be obtained by calling toll free 1-800-899-1265 or faxing (403) 292-5503, sending an email to <u>regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca</u> or by contacting the project leads directly.

# **Development of Regulations**

Regulations are laws made in support of acts. The Governor in Council, Cabinet Ministers and administrative tribunals like the CER are given authority to make regulations through legislation passed by Parliament.

In accordance with the <u>Cabinet Directive on Regulations</u>, the development of regulations in Canada generally involves:

- Developing policy intent to inform the drafting of the regulations
- Drafting regulations
- Pre-publication in Canada Gazette, Part I
- Public comment period on draft regulations
- Publication in Canada Gazette, Part II

#### CER-led development of regulations

The Plan includes a number of projects that involve review, improvement and development of CER regulations with an aim to:

- address legal issues;
- enhance regulatory outcomes; and
- make our existing regulatory stock current.

The following regulations are being reviewed, see Annexes for project details:

- Onshore Pipeline Regulations
- Cost Recovery Regulations
- Rules of Practice and Procedure
- Export / Import Regulatory Framework

The following regulations will be developed in future years, after the *Cost Recover Regulations* are finalized:

#### • Designated Companies Cost Recovery Regulations

Under section 142 (1) of the CER Act, the CER is mandated to make regulations to recover costs, expenses and damages associated with a pipeline release when a company has been "designated" by the Governor in Council (GIC), appointed by Parliament.

In the event of a pipeline release, the GIC may, on the recommendation of the Minister of Natural Resources, "designate" the responsible company if it does not have or is not likely to have the financial resources necessary to pay the costs, expenses and damages associated with the release; or in instances where it does not comply with a CER Order with respect to the release.

A Regulatory Proposal was published for public comment in 2018, and <u>five letters of comment</u> were received. Further engagement on the Designated Company Cost Recovery Regulations is anticipated to resume pending the development of the CER Cost Recovery Regulations.

# CER participation in development of regulations led by Natural Resources Canada

There are several regulations made by the Governor in Council under the Canadian Energy Regulator Act (CER Act) or the Canada Oil and Gas Operations Act (COGOA) that are being developed by Natural Resources Canada. The CER actively participates in the development of these regulations.

The ongoing regulatory initiatives led by Natural Resources Canada are detailed on that department's <u>Forward Regulatory Plan</u>.

Regulatory Development Project	Project Type
Designated Officer Regulations	Development of new regulations
Frontier and Offshore Regulatory Renewal Initiative (FORRI) Framework Regulations – Offshore Oil and Gas Management outside of the Accord Areas	Major update to existing regulations
Indigenous Ministerial Arrangements Regulations	Development of new regulations
Offshore Renewables Energy Regulations	Development of new regulations

## **Development of Guidance**

We produce guidance materials for varying audiences, published in different formats, covering many topics related to the work of the CER but all serve the same essential functions to provide clarity and guide the actions of those who must comply with our requirements or processes.

We adopt an approach of continual improvement to ensure the quality of guidance materials. Reviews and updates occur in stages, on a periodic basis.

We are committed to meaningful and transparent engagement with stakeholders, Indigenous Peoples, and the public. Consult the CER website to obtain details of engagement opportunities.

#### Filing Manuals and Supplemental Filing Guidance

The Filing Manuals (FM) help applicants and interested parties understand what to include in an application to the Commission. The CER has a Filing Manual which details filings for pipelines and an Electricity Filing Manual which details filings for electrical power lines. While it is ultimately the responsibility of the applicant to follow applicable legislation and regulations, these manuals have been developed to provide guidance about the information we expect to see addressed in an application to the Commission.

The Filing Manuals are arranged into Chapters and Guides which align with different types of applications the Commission considers.

The following sections of the Filing Manual are being reviewed, see Annexes for project details:

- Guide A: Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment and Lands Information sections, along with Chapters 6 and 8: Electricity Filing Manual
- Guide BB: Financial Surveillance Reports
- Guide P: Tolls and Tariffs

The following sections of the Filing Manual will be updated for clarity purposes (e.g., making consequential changes, updating terms and references, simplifying language, refreshing format etc.):

#### • Guide R: Transfer of Ownership, Lease and Amalgamation

This guide of the Filing Manual (for pipelines) outlines the information required from regulated companies who enter transactions that alter the nature of responsibilities for their facilities – such as the purchase, sale or lease of assets, or amalgamation of companies. Filing requirements are defined for both parties to a transaction, including providing maps, business and financial information.

The update will address ambiguities that have been noted in portions of the text and incorporate into the filing guidance, existing best-practices and tools (e.g., templates).

#### **Regulatory Guidance**

The following regulatory guidance is being reviewed, see Annexes for project details:

• Event Reporting Guidelines

#### Contractor Oversight Guidance for CER-Regulated Companies

The following regulatory guidance is new:

• Public Access to Information Guidelines and Interpretation Notes Under the Oil and Gas Operations Act

The <u>Oil and Gas Operations Act</u> (OGOA) is a statute of the Northwest Territories; however, we are responsible for aspects of oil and gas exploration and development in parts of the Northwest Territories, in the Inuvialuit Settlement Region, in accordance with the CER Act (jurisdiction defined in section 12(1), until March 31, 2034).

OGOA includes provisions (Section 22) which describe the overall approach to making information submitted to the CER available to the public and explains circumstances under which information may be kept confidential. The objectives of the <u>Public Access to Information Guidelines and Interpretation Notes Under the Oil and Gas Operations Act</u> are to:

- describe how information provided to the CER is handled resulting from the amendments to OGOA which came into effect on 23 July 2020;
- provide information on the process for requesting that information provided to the CER be kept confidential;
- o enhance certainty and predictability in regulatory decisions; and
- o promote accessibility and transparency in oil and gas regulation.

The draft Guidelines were released to the CER website for comment, for a period of 60 days ending in May 2023. No comments were received, a final version of the Guidelines will be released in summer 2024.

The following guidance will be updated for clarity purposes (e.g., making consequential changes, updating terms and references, simplifying language, refreshing format etc.):

#### Guidance materials for Damage Prevention

Damage prevention involves providing proactive information and establishing procedures for the protection of buried pipes and cables. Not only to safeguard the energy transport infrastructure, but also the surrounding structures, roads and other property found near pipelines or power lines, also ensuring the safety of anyone living and working nearby.

The <u>damage prevention guidance materials</u> appear as CER webpages that are arranged into sections which align with different audiences and also as printable publications and regulatory Guidance Notes.

The CER is planning to update the regulatory <u>Guidance Notes – Canadian Energy Regulator</u> <u>Regulations for Pipeline Damage Prevention</u> to improve plain and accessible language, and clarity. Input that has been provided by regulated industry and the <u>Land Matters Group</u> will be integrated into the review.

# Other Regulatory Framework Improvements

These Regulatory Framework projects could impact one or more of our regulatory instruments (i.e., regulatory documents, and guidance), or result in changes to internal systems or processes in support of effective regulatory activity.

The following regulatory improvement initiatives are ongoing, see Annexes for project details:

- Financial Requirement Improvement Project
- Regulatory Asset Data Project
- Predictable and Efficient Processing and Assessment of Negligible-Risk and Low-Risk Projects

## **Engagement and Project Timelines**

The CER is committed to ensuring that our work, and the decisions we make are informed by diverse input from people across Canada. We encourage those who may be impacted by our decisions and work to get involved.

We are committed to meaningful and transparent engagement with stakeholders, Indigenous Peoples, and the public. Engagement occurs at numerous stages in the process of regulatory development, whether developing regulations or drafting guidance materials.

The Regulatory Framework projects listed in the Plan are subject to change. In particular, the development of regulations is contingent on agencies external to the CER (e.g., Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat or Department of Justice).

The engagement and project timelines appearing in the table below are subject to change. Timelines are estimates, valid as of publication date (July 2024).

To obtain up to date details of engagement opportunities:

- consult the <u>CER Consultation and Engagement activities</u> webpages;
- consult CER Dialogue for individual project pages as available;
- subscribe to the <u>CER RSS Regulatory Improvements</u> feed to receive notifications;
- reach out to <u>CER contacts</u> directly;
- inquire at <u>regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>; or
- Contact Us.

Project	2024-25				2025-26				2026-27			
	summer	fall	winter	spring	summer	fall	winter	spring	summer	fall	winter	spring
Cost Recovery Regulations									Pre-publish dr Gazette			Publish in Canada Gazette, Part II
Damage Prevention Guidance	Input has been provided by industry Damage Prevention C Practice and Land Matters Group. Updates are administrative in nature; no further engagen planned.				Publish							
Event Reporting Guidelines	Publish											
Export / Import Regulatory Framework		Pre-publish draft in Canada Gazette, Part I					Publish ir Gazette					
Filing Manuals, Guides A.2, A.4 of pipeline FM; Ch. 6, 8 of electricity FM	Engagement will coordinate with the OPR Review project, with additional engagement opportunities as needed but not known at t			this time.	Publish							
Filing Manual, Guide R		Engage	Publish									
Financial Requirements Improvement Project	Regulated Companies were consulted in 2020. Details on further engagement and project timelines are not known at this time.							-				
OGOA Guidelines	Publish											
Onshore Pipeline Regulations	Engage on reg	gulatory issues			Engage on	draft regulator	ulatory proposal			Pre-publish draft in Canada Gazette, Part I		
Regulatory Asset Data Project		Formal data request to companies			Project complete							
Rules of Practice and Procedure	Pre-publisi			Publish in Canada Gazette, Part II								
Contractor Oversight Guidance for CER- Regulated Companies	Engage	Publish										
Predictable Processing and Assessment of Negligible-risk and Low- Risk Projects	Engage			F	Publish							

# Contact Us

More information on Regulatory Framework projects may be obtained by calling toll free 1-800-899-1265, faxing (403) 292-5503 or sending an email to <u>regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>, in addition to contacting the project leads listed below.

Project	Project Type	Estimated Completion	CER Contact		
Contractor Oversight Guidance for CER-Regulated Companies	Development of new regulatory guidance	2024	Tess Evenson Research and Innovation, System Operations 403-836-6693 <u>tess.evenson@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>		
Review of Event Reporting Guidelines	Regulatory review of existing regulatory guidance	2024	Debra Gilbert Research and Innovation, System Operations (403) 389-4664 <u>debra.gilbert@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>		
Financial Requirements Improvement Project	Regulatory review of	Not known at this time.	Michael Van Appelen Tolls and Tariffs Adjudication, Energy Adjudicatio		
Includes review of the following:	existing filing guidance and CER		(403) 470-4837 michael.vanappelen@cer-rec.gc.ca		
Guide BB: Financial Surveillance Reports Guide P: Tolls and Tariffs	processes				
Predictable and Efficient Processing and Assessment of Negligible-Risk and Low-Risk Projects	Enterprise improvement project	2024	Usha Mulukutla Facilities Adjudication West, Energy Adjudication (403) 809-1478 <u>usha.mulukutla@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>		
Public Access to Information Guidelines and Interpretation Notes under the Oil and Gas Operations Act	Development of new regulatory guidance	2024	Christy Wickenheiser Facilities Adjudication Central-North, Energy Adjudication (403) 809-9352 <u>christy.wickenheiser@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>		
Regulatory Asset Data Project	Enterprise improvement project	2024	Carson Bannon Research and Innovation, System Operations (403) 837-9213 <u>carson.bannon@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>		

Review of Cost Recovery Regulations	Regulatory review of existing regulations	2026	Rumu Sen Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 390-6177 rumu.sen@cer-rec.gc.ca
Review of Damage Prevention Guidance	Technical updates to existing regulatory guidance	2025	Shannon Neufeld Safety and Damage Prevention, Field Operations (403) 389-6244 <u>shannon.neufeld@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>
Review of Export /Import Regulatory Framework	Regulatory review of existing regulations	2026	Jenni Low Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 607-3857 jenni.low@cer-rec.gc.ca
Review of Filing Manual Guide A, Section 2 of pipeline FM and Chapter 6 of electricity FM: Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment; Guide A, Section 4: Lands Information and Chapter 8 of electricity FM	Regulatory review of existing filing guidance	2025	Don Logan Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 606-0573 don.logan@cer-rec.gc.ca
Review of Filing Manual, Guide R: Transfer of Ownership, Lease or Amalgamation	Technical updates to existing filing guidance	2024	Michael Van Appelen Tolls and Tariffs Adjudication, Energy Adjudication (403) 470-4837 <u>michael.vanappelen@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>
Review of Onshore Pipeline Regulations	Regulatory review of existing regulations	2027	Don Logan Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 606-0573 don.logan@cer-rec.gc.ca
Review of Rules of Practice and Procedure	Regulatory review of existing regulations	2025	Rumu Sen Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 390-6177 rumu.sen@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 1: Review of Onshore Pipeline Regulations

#### Background

The <u>Onshore Pipeline Regulations</u> (OPR) are made under the <u>Canadian Energy Regulator Act</u> (CER Act). The OPR is the CER's principal regulation for the physical (vs. financial) oversight of oil, gas and commodity pipelines that cross a national, provincial or territorial border.

The OPR provides for safety, security and environmental protection outcomes and includes management system requirements for regulated companies. Companies are responsible for meeting the requirements of the OPR throughout the entire lifecycle of their facilities, from design, through to construction, operation and abandonment.

#### **Project Details**

The CER is conducting a comprehensive review of the OPR to update the regulations. The project is referenced on the CER website as the OPR Review.

The review of the OPR includes updates for alignment with the CER Act and represents part of how we will deliver our commitments to enhance competitiveness and regulatory excellence and transform the way the CER and its regulated companies work with Indigenous Peoples across the lifecycle of regulated facilities.

In June 2023, the Department of Justice published the Government of Canada's <u>Action Plan</u> to achieve the objectives of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UN Declaration), and to identify measures needed to ensure federal laws are consistent with the UN Declaration. The Action Plan provides a roadmap of actions Canada needs to take in partnership with Indigenous peoples to implement the principles and rights set out in the UN Declaration and to further advance reconciliation in a tangible way. <u>Measure 34 of the Action Plan</u> explicitly references the Review of the OPR.

The review will address all areas of the OPR and related regulatory documents and guidance, as needed (e.g., Guidance Notes for the OPR, the Filing Manual, Online Event Reporting Guidelines, Remediation Process Guide, Audit Protocol, Operations and Maintenance Activities on Pipelines – Requirements and Guidance Notes, and the Decommissioning Streamlining Order and Guidance Notes).

The new regulation-making authority in the CER Act for human and organizational factors, which is related to safety improvement, will also be addressed.

In broad terms, our objectives for the OPR Review are to deliver regulations that:

- support the highest level of safety, security and environmental protection;
- advance Reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples;
- address transparency and inclusive participation;
- provide for predictable and timely oversight; and
- encourage innovation.

#### Engagement

The CER is making use of the <u>CER Dialogue</u> online platform to engage on the OPR Review. Interested parties are encouraged to subscribe to the project page to receive updates. Engagement materials and submissions received during regulatory consultation will be posted to <u>CER Dialogue</u>.

The CER conducted the first phase of engagement, from January through June 2022, with a <u>Discussion</u> <u>Paper</u> and engagement sessions. In total, 97 submissions were received – 76 from Indigenous Nations and communities, 12 from interested parties, and 9 from industry. In April 2023, a <u>What We Heard report</u> providing a high-level summary of input received and all submissions was published on the <u>CER Dialogue</u> platform. With the first phase of engagement completed in 2022, the next phase is focused on specific issues, including those identified in the first phase of engagement. The CER launched phase two of engagement in June 2024 through a series of thematic papers and workshops.

Information on further engagement, including funding opportunities, appears on the <u>CER Dialogue</u> platform.

#### Project Timeline

The review of the OPR was first included in the <u>CER Forward Regulatory Plan</u> in January 2020. We estimate publication of updated regulations and related guidance to occur in 2026-27.

#### **Contact Us**

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: <u>regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>

For enquiries on the OPR Review and information on engagement please email: opr-rpt@cer-rec.gc.ca

Don Logan Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 606-0573 don.logan@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 2: Review of Cost Recovery Regulations

#### Background

The <u>Cost Recovery Regulations</u> (CRR) are made under the <u>Canadian Energy Regulator Act</u> (CER Act). Section 87 of the CER Act provides that regulations may be made with approval of Treasury Board, for recovering all or a portion of costs attributable to the CER's mandate.

The CRR sets out the manner of calculating fees, levies or charges for CER regulated companies and their payment to the Regulator.

#### **Project Details**

The review of the CRR includes updates to align with the CER Act and represents how the Regulator will deliver its commitments to enhance Canada's global competitiveness.

Regulatory development and analysis are under way to:

- expand cost recovery to allow the CER to recover costs directly from all applicants who are not already regulated by the CER, including those whose applications are denied or withdrawn; and
- reevaluate fixed levies for small and intermediate companies.

The proposed cost recovery framework aims to:

- achieve fair and equitable cost allocation;
- simplify the method of cost recovery and its administration;
- make costs predictable for industry;
- ensure cost recovery mechanisms can respond to change; and
- provide some flexibility in the application of methodologies.

#### Engagement

A project working group (PWG) was formed with members from the CER's standing Cost Recovery Liaison Committee (CRLC). The CRLC is comprised of representatives from CER regulated companies and industry associations representing those regulated companies.

In fall 2020, a workshop was conducted by CER staff to gather initial feedback from the CRLC PWG on the elements and methodology for the cost recovery framework.

In November 2021, a <u>Regulatory Proposal</u>, supported by <u>Frequently Asked Questions</u>, was released on the CER and Consulting with Canadians websites to seek written feedback on proposed amendments for a 30day comment period. The CER received 12 letters of comment:

Cost Recovery Regulations, Stakeholders Letters of Comment

In fall 2023, an options paper was shared with the CRLC PWG with a follow-up workshop conducted by CER staff to gather additional feedback from the group on the methodology for the cost recovery framework.

Information on future engagement opportunities will appear on the <u>CER Consultation and Engagement</u> <u>Activities</u> webpages.

#### **Project Timeline**

The review of the CRR was first included in the <u>CER Forward Regulatory Plan</u> in April 2019. We estimate publication of updated regulations to occur in spring 2027.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

For enquiries on the CRR Review and information on engagement, please email: <u>costrecoveryregulations@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>

Rumu Sen Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 390-6177 <u>rumu.sen@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>

# Annex 3: Review of Rules of Practice and Procedure

#### Background

The <u>National Energy Board Rules of Practice and Procedure, 1995</u> (the Rules) govern the procedures to be followed during Commission hearings at the Canada Energy Regulator (CER), previously the National Energy Board. They set out the mechanisms for complaints, the conduct of public hearings, and determine the manner in which applications are to be reviewed. The Rules are made by the Commission under the CER Act (s. 35).

#### **Project Details**

A comprehensive update to the Rules is needed to align with the <u>Canadian Energy Regulator Act</u> (CER Act), which came into force in 2019, to reflect the CER's new governance structure, and to formalize the practices, processes and terminology which have evolved in the years since the Rules were first in effect. In broad terms, our objective for the Rules review is to deliver regulations that:

- align with the CER Act, including the objectives outlined in the Act's preamble, such as the commitment to Reconciliation;
- enhance competitiveness through predictable and timely processes; and
- modernize practices and procedures.

#### Engagement

Rules Review is making use of the <u>CER Dialogue</u> online platform to engage on this project. In summer 2024 Phase 1 Early Engagement will begin. During this Phase feedback will be sought from Indigenous Peoples and stakeholders on potential improvements to the Rules.

Information on further engagement, including funding opportunities, will appear on the <u>CER Consultation</u> and <u>Engagement Activities</u> webpages and the CER Dialogue platform.

#### **Project Timeline**

The review of the Rules was added to the <u>CER Forward Regulatory Plan</u> in April 2023. We estimate that publication of updated regulations will occur in 2025.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: <u>regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>

Rumu Sen Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 390-6177 rumu.sen@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 4: Review of Export / Import Regulatory Framework

#### Background

Four existing regulations and associated guidance constitute the CER's Export and Import Regulatory Framework. These provide the CER with critical information necessary to assess export and import applications and to understand the functioning of energy markets in Canada.

- The <u>Part VI (Oil and Gas) Regulations</u> list the information that applicants for hydrocarbon orders and licenses must provide to the CER, and the terms and conditions that the CER may impose on orders and licenses.
- The <u>Electricity Regulations</u> list the information that applicants for international power line permits and electricity export permits must provide to the CER, and the terms and conditions the CER may impose on permits.
- The <u>Export and Import Reporting Regulations</u> list the information that holders of export or import orders, licenses and permits must regularly report to the CER.
- The <u>Toll Information Regulations</u> require pipeline companies that charge tolls to submit certain information (e.g., capital, traffic, revenues, and expenses) to the CER on a regular basis.

#### **Project Details**

These regulations require updates due to legislative changes passed in 2012 and with the CER Act in 2019. We are also making changes to these regulations in order to align with the names, terms and regulation making authorities in the CER Act.

The proposed changes to the Export and Import Regulations aim to:

- enhance clarity;
- ensure coherence of the CER Regulatory Framework; and
- simplify requirements for businesses involved in the export and import of oil, gas, or electricity.

#### Engagement

Proposed amendments to the Export and Import Regulatory Framework were posted on the NEB website for public comment from August to October 2013. The NEB received 11 letters of comment:

- Letters of Comment regarding the proposed changes to the NEB Export and Import Regulatory
  <u>Framework</u>
- Letters of Comment regarding the proposed changes to the NEB Electricity Regulations

Draft regulations will appear on the <u>Consulting with Canadians</u> website for pre-publication in the Canada Gazette, Part I and promoted on the CER website. This is anticipated to occur in fall 2024.

#### **Project Timeline**

The review of the export and import regulations was first included in the <u>CER Forward Regulatory Plan</u> in April 2014. Proposed amendments to the Export and Import Regulatory Framework were developed in 2014, after consultation with stakeholders. The proposed amendments were put on hold due to a federal election and the anticipated legislative changes resulting from the Government of Canada's Environmental and Regulatory Reviews, launched in 2016 culminating in the introduction of the CER Act in 2019.

We estimate publication of updated regulations to occur in 2026.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

Jenni Low Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 607-3857 jenni.low@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 5: Review of filing guidance – Filing Manual Guide A, Section 2: Environmental and Socio-Economic Assessment, and Section 4: Lands Information

#### Background

<u>Guide A</u> of the Filing Manual (for pipelines) establishes the information required by companies who propose projects that involve constructing or modifying facilities that require an application under the CER Act – such as, pipelines or tanks and reservoirs, pumps and compressors, and interstation communication systems etc.

The Commission must satisfy itself, or make recommendations to the Governor in Council, that the facilities are and will be required for the present and future public convenience and necessity.

The Commission considers information relating to engineering aspect of the facility, the lands, economic and financial matters, any public interest as well as environmental considerations relating to biophysical and human socio-economic aspects, over the life of the project.

Biophysical features include any aspect of land, water, or air, and any plants, animals, or other biota that use those environments or depend on them. Socio-economic considerations may include any biophysical features used by humans for food, shelter, cultural activity, or economic activity, or any features that may affect human health, well-being, or any other values or rights. Detailed examples are provided in <u>Table A-1</u> of the Filing Manual.

Section 2 of Guide A (Guide A.2) describes the CER's responsibilities and process for environmental and socio-economic assessments, including the assessment of impacts to the rights of Indigenous Peoples. Section 4 of Guide A (Guide A.4) defines the information the CER requires on the lands along a proposed project area, including a description of land rights and processes for entering into land agreements with rights holders.

The Commission's objectives for environmental and socio-economic assessment and review of land matters, are that:

- the potential effects of a project receive thorough consideration before any project is allowed to proceed;
- the residual effects of the project, including the cumulative effects, are not significant; and
- there is an opportunity for meaningful public participation and the participation of Indigenous Peoples.

#### **Project Details**

The CER is conducting a comprehensive review of Guide A.2, as it pertains to environment and socioeconomic assessment and Guide A.4, as it pertains to land matters (ESA Review).

The Commission's assessment processes, and decision reports are often dominated by topics covered by the ESA and Lands sections of the Filing Manual. Clear guidance in the Filing Manual helps to avoid:

- the need for additional technical information and processes during assessments;
- project conditions to address elements not contained in the application; and
- lack of clarity and predictability in regulatory processes.

The ESA Review project will help provide clear expectations for industry. This does not necessarily mean additional filing requirements, as the objective will be to help applicants provide the Commission with the

right information the first time.

In June 2023, the Department of Justice published the Government of Canada's <u>Action Plan</u> to achieve the objectives of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UN Declaration), and to identify measures needed to ensure federal laws are consistent with the UN Declaration. The Action Plan provides a roadmap of actions Canada needs to take in partnership with Indigenous peoples to implement the principles and rights set out in the UN Declaration and to further advance reconciliation in a tangible way. <u>Measure 34 of the Action Plan</u> explicitly references the Review of the Filing Manuals.

#### Engagement

The ESA Review is informed by ongoing regulatory development on the Onshore Pipeline Regulations (OPR Review) and aims to address, ahead of updated regulations not estimated to occur until 2026, the known issues that have been raised during early engagement on the OPR Review.

A <u>What We Heard report</u>, providing a high-level summary of input received on the OPR Review, and all submissions was released on the CER website and made available on the <u>CER Dialogue</u> online platform.

On matters relevant to the ESA Review, public feedback received to date on the OPR Review and from other public engagement includes calls for the CER to:

- expand incorporation of Indigenous knowledge into project planning and design, and better define how Indigenous knowledge is to be considered in ESAs;
- collaborate with Indigenous Peoples on criteria to assess impacts to rights;
- use plain and culturally relevant language;
- enhance requirements for early engagement;
- clarify timelines (e.g., Filing Manual to include service standards or process timelines); and
- provide better advance notice of upcoming changes to filing requirements.

The ESA Review for the Filing Manual will include parallel draft updates for the Electricity Filing Manual. The project will include extensive public consultation.

The work will continue to incorporate public feedback received through other CER engagement processes, including the OPR Review, which launched phase two of engagement in June 2024.

Background materials, draft updates, and further information related to the ESA Review, including engagement and funding opportunities will be posted to <u>Proposed updates to Filing Manuals</u> webpage, as well as the CER Dialogue webpage for the OPR Review, as they become available.

#### Project Timeline

The review project for Guide A first appeared in the Regulatory Framework Plan in 2021. We anticipate completion of the project, resulting in publication of new filing guidance in 2025.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

Don Logan Regulatory Policy, System Operations (403) 606-0573 don.logan@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 6: Review of regulatory guidance – Event Reporting Guidelines

#### Background

The <u>Event Reporting Guidelines</u> (ERG, or Guidelines) provide regulated companies with information and instructions that clarify the CER's expectations in relation to event reporting. The Guidelines explain what needs to be reported, when and how to notify the CER, and the information that companies are required to submit via the CER's <u>Online Event Reporting System</u> (OERS).

#### **Project Details**

The CER periodically updates the Guidelines as part of our commitment to continuous regulatory improvement and oversight. The Draft 2024 Revised Guidelines are based on an internal review of reported events, user feedback and data analysis. A multi-disciplinary project working group is reviewing and updating the Guidelines to:

- clarify terminology;
- improve examples of events that require notification to the CER; and
- modernize the look and feel of the guidance material.

The OERS will be updated to align with changes made in the Guidelines.

It is anticipated that improved Guidelines will reduce administrative burden for regulated companies and the CER by reducing the number of information requests and will strengthen event-related datasets by facilitating the consistent application of reporting requirements.

#### Engagement

Proposed revisions to the Guidelines were posted for comment on the <u>CER Consultations and Engagement</u> <u>Activities</u> and <u>CER Dialogue</u> webpages for a period of 90 days, ending April 27, 2024. The input received is being considered and will inform final revisions.

#### **Project Timelines**

The project was added to the CER Regulatory Framework Plan in 2023. We anticipate the release of revised Guidelines and related updates to the OERS in the summer 2024.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

For enquiries on the ERG Revision please email: erg-dre@cer-rec.gc.ca

Debra Gilbert Regulatory Compliance, System Operations (403) 389-4664 <u>debra.gilbert@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>

# Annex 7: New regulatory guidance – Contractor Oversight by CER-Regulated Companies

#### Background

Construction, operations, maintenance, and decommissioning/abandonment activities at CER-regulated workplaces have the potential to place the company's workforce, contractor's workforce, the public, equipment, property and the environment at risk. Regulated companies are required by the <u>Onshore Pipeline Regulations</u> (OPR) to proactively identify, evaluate, and control hazards when undertaking activities. Companies use contractors to carry out work, but at all times the Regulator will look to the CER-regulated company to uphold its legal obligations under the OPR.

#### **Project Details**

The CER is developing guidance intended to provide clarity on the CER's expectations of regulated companies regarding contractor oversight. This is in response to compliance verification activities (e.g., inspections and audits) that have noted companies have not consistently fulfilled their obligations under the OPR relative to their oversight of contractors and sub-contractors.

The guidance document in development for Contractor Oversight Guidance is intended to clarify the CER's expectations regarding contractor oversight in order to improve the performance of CER-regulated companies and enhance the safety of CER-regulated worksites.

#### Engagement

The project was discussed during a meeting of the <u>Regulated Industry Engagement Group</u> (RIEG), in November 2023. Regulated companies who registered to participate had an opportunity to receive an update from the project working group, have their questions answered and provide input on future engagement to develop the guidance. The input provided by participants to the RIEG has informed further engagement plans.

Draft guidance materials will be shared for comment for a period of 60 days in summer 2024. Watch for details to be posted to <u>CER Consultations and Engagement Activities</u> webpages. A workshop is being organized with regulated companies to gather feedback on the proposed contents of the guidance. Interested parties are invited to contact us.

#### **Project Timeline**

The project to develop Contractor Oversight Guidance is appearing in the Regulatory Framework Plan for the first time in 2024. We anticipate the release of the guidance in fall 2024.

#### **Contact Us**

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

Tess Evenson Research and Innovation, System Operations 403-836-6693 tess.evenson@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 8: Financial Requirements Improvement Project

#### Background

Pipeline companies regulated by the CER are divided into two groups for financial regulation purposes; Group 1 companies are generally identified as those with extensive pipeline systems under CER jurisdiction, whereas those with lesser operations are designated as Group 2 companies. All companies are required to report to the CER certain financial and commercial information. The frequency and type of reporting vary depending on the company (Group), and includes information such as:

- daily volumes of substance flow through a pipeline;
- company spending on pipeline integrity programs; and/or
- audited financial statements.

Financial reporting requirements are found in the Filing Manual <u>Guide BB: Financial Surveillance Reports</u> (<u>Toll Information Regulations</u>) and <u>Guide P: Tolls and Tariffs</u>.

#### **Project Details**

The Financial Regulatory Improvement Project (FRIP) is established to improve the overall framework for CER oversight of financial requirements, in terms of – one, internal operations (e.g., work processes, records management, systems etc.) and – two, the Regulatory Framework instruments where those requirements and guidance for filings are found, currently in the Filing Manual and regulatory documents.

We propose to update relevant sections of the Filing Manual and, as the project advances, to develop or amend regulatory documents as required, in order to:

- ensure financial filing requirements are fair (i.e., align with potential harm and capacity by company type);
- ensure guidance materials on financial requirements is clear, integrated and appropriate for both Group 1 and 2 companies;
- reduce gaps in the information being gathered; and
- eliminate requirements resulting in duplicate reports.

#### Engagement

In 2020, the CER sought comments on financial and commercial requirements from all regulated pipeline companies [Document C04489-1]. The input provided is being considered and will inform plans for further engagement with regulated companies, shippers and other interested parties. Timelines are not known at this time.

#### Project Timeline

The FRIP was first included in the CER Regulatory Framework Plan in 2021. The estimated date of completion is not known at this time.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

Michael Van Appelen Tolls and Tariffs Adjudication, Energy Adjudication (403) 470-4837 <u>michael.vanappelen@cer-rec.gc.ca</u>

# Annex 9: Regulatory Asset Data Project

#### Background

Regulated companies will be requested to submit to the CER, information on their physical assets (i.e., pipelines, pumps and compressor stations, meters etc.) which allows us to build a picture of all buried and above-ground energy infrastructure, across the geography of our jurisdiction. At present, this information is mostly submitted in text or detailed map formats.

#### **Project Details**

The Regulatory Asset Data (RAD) project has been established to develop a solution with regulated companies to acquire digital geospatial and physical asset information in a more systematic and streamlined way.

The RAD project is part of our commitment to continual improvement and includes updates to internal systems, processes, and possible updates to the Filing Manual. The end goal of the RAD project is to improve the quality and business value of asset data and geospatial information reported, collected and leveraged to support key CER activities, such as:

- compliance verification;
- general oversight planning and risk modeling;
- emergency management;
- Energy Information and the Pipeline Information Programs, including the CER interactive Pipeline Map; and
- verification of financial assessments, including abandonment cost estimates.

The project entails collaborating with regulated companies to define the digital geospatial and regulatory asset data to be collected.

In broad terms, our objective for the RAD project is to deliver rigorous management of asset data and geospatial information in order to:

- support the highest level of safety, security and environmental protection and
- provide for efficient and timely oversight.

#### Engagement

The RAD project was addressed during the meeting of the <u>Regulated Industry Engagement Group</u> (RIEG), in May 2023. Regulated companies who had registered to participate had an opportunity to receive an update from the project working group, have their questions answered and provide input.

In January 2024, a project consultation package was shared for comments with all regulated oil and gas companies. Input received during the four weeks of engagement is now being analyzed.

All input received to date will be considered as the project progresses, and we prepare the initial request for data. We anticipated the request for data to be communicated to regulated companies in fall 2024.

#### **Project Timeline**

The RAD project was first included in the CER Regulatory Framework Plan in 2021. We estimate completion by summer or fall 2025, when the data has been submitted by regulated companies and fully integrated into CER systems.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

Carson Bannon Research and Innovation, System Operations (403) 837-9213 carson.bannon@cer-rec.gc.ca

# Annex 10: Predictable and Efficient Processing and Assessment of Negligible-risk and Low-risk Projects

#### Background

The CER (formerly the National Energy Board (NEB)) section 58 Streamlining Order (SO) [Filing A43203] was established in 1994 under the NEB Act. The SO provides the Commission's pre-determined approval for the construction and operation of certain classes of oil and gas projects regulated under the NEB Act (now addressed by <u>section 214 of the CER Act</u>), where those projects satisfy all the criteria listed in Schedule A of the SO. The Decommissioning Exemption Order (DEO) [XO/XG-100-2008], established in 2008 under the NEB Act, is tied to the SO as it refers to the same criteria contained in Schedule A.

#### **Project Details**

The current version of the SO is outdated and refers to old terms, legislation no longer in effect and associated legal requirements. Consequently, the SO is under review along with the processes that underpin it.

A simplified project review process is being explored for negligible and low-risk projects currently addressed by the SO, as well as for activities currently addressed by the DEO. Once the review is complete, and when the new process is established, this may result in cancellation of the 1994 SO and the 2008 DEO.

The Predictable and Efficient Processing and Assessment of Negligible-Risk and Low-risk Projects ("Efficiency Project") currently under way involves development of the following:

- simplified adjudication processes for negligible and low-risk applications under section 214 of the CER Act and negligible-risk decommissioning applications;
- qualifying criteria for certain negligible-risk applications; and
- updated filing guidance.

#### Engagement

A discussion paper will be released for comment in spring 2024 and there will be opportunities provided for in-person meetings with regulated industry, Indigenous communities, and other stakeholders during the period from June to September 2024. Interested parties are encouraged to contact us.

Information on engagement opportunities will appear on the <u>CER Consultation and Engagement Activities</u> webpages.

#### **Project Timeline**

The Efficiency Project is appearing in the Regulatory Framework Plan for the first time. We anticipate the release of a new regulatory document in spring/summer 2025.

#### Contact Us

The CER welcomes feedback on the content of the Regulatory Framework at any time, please email: regulatory.framework@cer-rec.gc.ca

Usha Mulukutla Facilities Adjudication West, Energy Adjudication (403) 809-1478 usha.mulukutla@cer-rec.gc.ca